# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO.2007-KA-01831-SCT

GEORGE LEE MASSEY

**APPELLANT** 

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI OFFICE SUPE

FILED
FEB 1 1 2008
OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS
George T. Holmes,
301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210
Jackson MS 39201
601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO.2007-KA-01831-SCT

GEORGE LEE MASSEY

**APPELLANT** 

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE RENDERED A DIRECTED VERDICT OR JNOV OF ACQUITTAL?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lauderdale County, Mississippi where George Lee Massey was convicted of gratification of lust. A jury trial was conducted September 11-12, 2007, with Honorable Robert W. Bailey, Circuit Judge, presiding. Massey was sentenced to ten (10) years with five (5) suspended and is presently out of custody on bail pending appeal according to trial counsel.

#### **FACTS**

In June of 2006, K.B.M.<sup>1</sup>, of Meridian, was fourteen (14) years old. She often visited with her paternal grandparents in Lauderdale County. K. B. M.'s great uncle, George Massey, lived with the grandparents and was the grandfather's brother. [T.87-90, 99-102].

According to the trial testimony, on June 29, 2006, K. B. M. was at her grandparent's house using the computer in George Massey's bedroom. [T. 104-110].

George was napping on the bed and woke up. *Id.* K. B. M. said that George rubbed some

The minor prosecutrix's initials are used instead of her name.

lotion on her legs and in doing so slipped his hands under her shorts and felt between her legs. *Id*. K. B. M. said only her grandmother was in the home at the time and she was watching television in another room. [T. 111].

George, who is disabled, testified and said he did rub lotion on K. B. M.'s legs, at her request, but did not touch her improperly. [T. 186-87]. He also said that K. B. M.'s father, was in the home and that K. B. M. had the date wrong. *Id*.

The alleged incident of touching was not reported to anyone for approximately three (3) weeks when K. B. M.'s grandfather asked why she had not been around to visit. [T. 116].

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court should have rendered a directed verdict of acquittal or should have rendered a judgment of acquittal notwithstanding the verdict or new trial.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE RENDERED A DIRECTED VERDICT OR JNOV OF ACQUITTAL?

A review of a lower court's denial of a motion for new trial is by an abuse of discretion standard. *Esparaza v. State*, 595 So.2d 418 (Miss.1992). Pursuant to this standard, the reviewing court should "consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the appellee, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inference that may be

reasonably drawn from the evidence." *Jefferson v. State*, 818 So.2d 1099, 1111 (Miss. 2002). If the evidence is "so overwhelmingly in favor of the appellant that reasonable men could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, [the court is] required to reverse and render." *Id.* However, "if there is substantial evidence in support of the verdict, that is, evidence of such quality and weight that reasonable and fair minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, affirmance is required." *Id.* 

"A motion for JNOV challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence. *Montana v. State*, 822 So.2d 954, 967 (Miss. 2002). "Under this standard, this Court will consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the appellee, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inference that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence." *Coleman v. State*, 697 So.2d 777, 787-788 (Miss.1997). "If the facts so considered point so overwhelmingly in favor of the appellant that reasonable men could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, we are required to reverse and render." *Id.* 

"In determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on

appeal." Id. See also Benson v. State, 551 So.2d 188, 193 (Miss.1989); McFee v. State, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss.1987).

With sex offenses, the unimpeached testimony of a prosecutrix is usually sufficient to sustain a conviction. *See, e. g., Grant v. State*, 913 So.2d 316 (Miss. 2005). Unless an alleged victim's testimony so "discredited or contradicted by other evidence that it becomes unbelievable" their testimony in and of itself can be "sufficient to sustain a guilty verdict." *Musgrove v. State*, 866 So.2d 483, 486 (Miss. App. 2003)(citing *Collier v. State*, 711 So.2d 458 (Miss.1998); *Mabus v. State*, 809 So.2d 728 (Miss. App. 2001); *Riley v. State*, 797 So.2d 285 (Miss. App. 2001)).

Nevertheless, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that such uncorroborated testimony of a prosecutrix should be cautiously scrutinized and where it is "unsupported, and the facts and circumstances in evidence discredit her and fail to satisfy the mind as to the guilt of accused, but rather suggests grave doubt of it, a conviction should be set aside." *Rogers v. State*, 204 Miss. 891, 899-900, 36 So.2d 155,158 (Miss.1948)(citing *Monroe v. State*, 71 Miss. 196, 13 So. 884, 885 (1893)).

Courts and juries cannot well be too cautious in scrutinizing the testimony of the complaining witness, and guarding themselves against the influence of those indignant feelings which are so naturally excited by the enormity of the alleged offense. Although no unreasonable suspicion should be indulged against the accuser, and no sympathy should be felt for the accused, if guilty, there is much greater danger that injustice may be done to the defendant in cases of this kind than there is in prosecutions of any other character. The evidence is always direct, and, whatever may be the just force of countervailing circumstances, honest and unsuspecting jurors may think themselves bound, of necessity, to credit that which is positively

sworn. 204 Miss. 899-900, 36 So.2d 158

If under this close scrutiny the alleged victim's testimony is discredited or contradicted by other credible evidence, then the verdict must be set aside. *Maiden v. State*, 802 So.2d 134, 136 (Miss. App. 2001); *Cross v. State*, 759 So.2d 354 (Miss.1999); *Rogers v. State*, 204 Miss. 891, 899-900, 36 So.2d 155, 158 (Miss.1948); *Monroe v. State*, 71 Miss. 196, 13 So. 884, 885 (1893).

The scrutiny must include the victim's physical and mental condition after the incident, as well as the fact that she immediately reported the rape as corroborating evidence. *Christian v. State*, 456 So.2d 729, 734 (Miss. 1984)(quoting *Brooks v. State*, 242 So.2d 865, 868 (Miss.1971); *Lang v. State*, 230 Miss. 147, 159, 87 So.2d 265 (1956)).

In the present case, the K. B. M. did not mention any allegation to anyone for approximately three (3) weeks after the event was supposed to have happened. [T.116]. Moreover, the accusation was only made when the grandfather asked K. B. M. why she had not been around to visit. *Id.* Moreover, K. B. M.'s testimony differed in many material ways from her written statement to police. [Ex. 2].

This should be more than enough to negate the credibility and reliability of K. B. M.'s testimony, suggesting "grave doubt" of George Massey's guilt. *Rogers v. State*, 204 Miss. 891, 899-900, 36 So.2d 155,158 (Miss.1948).

Here, the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. As stated

above, the only evidence to support the charge consisted of unreliable testimony of by K.BM. which was very suspicious and unreliable.

Under the facts set forth above, the Appellant asserts that it would have been impossible for reasonable minded jurors to find that he was guilty of gratification of lust as set forth in the indictment. *See Rogers v. State*, 204 Miss. 891, 899-900, 36 So.2d 155,158 (Miss.1948)(citing *Monroe v. State*, 71 Miss. 196, 13 So. 884, 885 (1893)). Accordingly, the Appellant respectfully submits that verdict was contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and the Court should reverse and render or remand for a new trial.

#### **CONCLUSION**

George Massey is entitled to have, and is respectfully requesting that, his conviction in this case be reversed and rendered as an acquittal, or that he be granted a new trial.