IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GEORGE LEE MASSEY

FILED

APPELLANT

MAY 1 5 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-1831

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

George Lee Massey was convicted in the Circuit Court of Lauderdale County on a charge of touching a child for lustful purposes and was sentenced to a term of 10 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with five years suspended and five years probation. (C.P.44) Aggrieved by the judgment rendered against him, Massey has perfected an appeal to this Court.

Substantive Facts

J. M. testified that he was the custodial parent of three children, including K.B.M., who was born on June 11, 1992. During the summer of 2006, K.B.M. lived with him in Meridian. Almost every weekend, she visited her grandparents, Edgar and Charlotte Massey, who also lived in Meridian. Also residing with the grandparents was Edgar Massey's brother, George Massey. (T.88-91)

K.B.M. testified that she visited her grandparents and her great-uncle George Massey "[a] lot" during the summer of 2006. On June 29, 2006, K.B.M. went to her grandparents' residence. Her grandfather was at work at the time, but her grandmother and George Massey were present. During the early afternoon, K.B.M. went to her uncle's room to use his computer, as was her habit. The defendant was "sitting on the bed." According to K.B.M., "He was asleep, and then he woke up. ... He ... got a cigarette and smoked it." He was dressed "[j]ust in his boxers." The defendant "went to go use the bathroom after that." When he returned, he "started talking" to K.B.M., and started rubbing lotion on his feet and then on K.B.M.'s legs. K.B.M. began to feel uncomfortable. The defendant went on to rub lotion on her "private area," inside her panties. K.B.M. went on to testify that the defendant touched her vaginal area with his whole hand. (T.102-11)

Asked to recount what happened next, K.B.M. testified as follows:

I just like spun the chair around real quick, and then he got up and went to the bathroom, and that's whenever I ran in there to my Mamaw. And then like I came back not too long after that, and then he tried to— he said he had an ant bite or something on him in his private area and tried to show me, and I said, No. And he said, Does that offend you or something? And don't think nothing about it. And then—I don't know. I got up somehow, and I went in there, and he kept calling me back there. And my Mamaw said, Your Uncle George is calling you. I said, No, that's all right; I'll just stay in here with you.

When she was asked how she responded to the defendant's question about her being offended, K.B.M. testified, "I told him that I was 14 and that's my uncle." After he tried to expose himself to her, K.B.M. went to the living room and remained with her grandmother until she returned home. She did not tell her grandmother what had happened because she was "scared." (T.114-16)

Approximately three weeks later, K.B.M. told her grandfather what the defendant had done to her. When she was asked why she did not report this incident to her father, she testified, "Because I know how my daddy is, and I thought it would have been safer if I told my Papaw so my Papaw can sit down with my daddy so he'll do the right thing." In other words, K.B.M. was afraid that if she had told him directly, her father would have "hurt" the defendant. (T.116)

Edgar Massey testified that his grandchildren, including K.B.M., routinely spent a great deal of time at his house during the summer. At the end of June, 2006, however, K.B.M. abruptly stopped visiting. When he encountered her at a Fourth of July celebration, he told her, "I've been missing you. Why haven't you been over?" She told him that she had been busy doing "other things." Later, when he telephoned her, she told him the real reason she had stayed away. (T.145-47)

The defendant took the stand and denied having touched K.B.M. inappropriately. He testified that she had asked him to rub lotion on her legs. He also testified that he did not own a pair of boxer shorts. (T.177-79)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in overruling the defendant's motions for j.n.o.v. and new trial. The victim's delay in reporting this crime did not render her testimony unworthy of belief.

PROPOSITION:

THE VERDICT IS BASED ON LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROOF AND IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

The sole issue presented on this appeal is whether the trial court erred in overruling the defendant's motions for j.n.o.v. and for new trial. To prevail on the assertion that he is entitled to a judgment of acquittal, Massey must satisfy the following formidable standard of review:

When on appeal one convicted of a criminal offense challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence, our authority to interfere with the jury's verdict is guite limited. We proceed by considering all of the evidence--not just that supporting the case for the prosecution--in the light most consistent with the verdict. We give [the] prosecution the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. If the facts and inferences so considered point in favor of the accused with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that he was guilty. reversal and discharge are required. On the other hand, if there is in the record substantial evidence of such quality and weight that, having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable and fair-minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, the verdict of guilty is thus placed beyond our authority to disturb.

Manning v. State, 735 So.2d 323, 333 (Miss.1999), quoting McFee v. State, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss.1987).

Furthermore.

The jury is charged with the responsibility of weighing and considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed. [citation omitted] The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory, and sincerity. *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993) (citations omitted). "It is not for this Court to pass upon the credibility of witnesses and where evidence justifies the verdict it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief." *Williams v. State*, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983).

(emphasis added) Ford v. State, 737 So.2d 424, 425 (Miss. App.1999).

See also *Jackson v. State*, 580 So.2d 1217, 1219 (Miss.1991) (on appellate review the state "is entitled to the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence"), and *Noe*, 616 So.2d at 302 (evidence favorable to the defendant should be disregarded). Accord, *Harris v. State*, 532 So.2d 602, 603 (Miss.1988) (appellate court "should not and cannot usurp the power of the fact-finder/ jury"). "When a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, the evidence which supports the verdict is accepted as true by the reviewing court, and the State is given the benefit of all reasonable inferences flowing from the evidence." *Dumas v. State*, 806 So.2d 1009, 1011 (Miss. 2000).

This rigorous standard applies to the claim that Massey is entitled to a new trial:

The standard of review in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is well settled. "[T]his Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Dudley v. State*, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶8) (Miss.1998). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." *Griffin v. State*, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.

1992). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." *Dudley*, 719 So.2d at 182. "This Court does not have the task of re-weighing the facts in each case to, in effect, go behind the jury to detect whether the testimony and evidence they chose to believe was or was not the most credible." *Langston v. State*, 791 So.2d 273, 280 (¶ 14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001).

Smith v. State, 868 So.2d 1048, 1050-51 (Miss. App. 2004),

It has been "held in numerous cases that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be attached to their testimony." *Kohlberg v. State*, 704 So.2d 1307, 1311 (Miss.1997). As this Court recently reiterated in *Hales v. State*, 933 So.2d 962, 968 (Miss. 2006), criminal cases will not be reversed "where there is a straight issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts..." [citations omitted] Rather, "juries are impaneled for the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and [the Court does] not intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury." [citations omitted]

This Court has held "that the 'totally uncorroborated testimony of a victim is sufficient to support a guilty verdict where that testimony is not discredited or contradicted by other evidence." *Taylor v. State*, 836 So.2d 774, 777 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (quoting *Christian v. State*, 456 So.2d 729, 734 (Miss. 1984)), Massey centers his challenge to the weight and sufficiency of the evidence on the proposition that the three-week delay in reporting this incident renders K.B.M's testimony unworthy of belief.

While immediate reporting is recognized as corroborating evidence, it is not required. It is not unusual for a minor to delay reporting a sexual offense, especially when the perpetrator is a family member or friend of the family. See, e.g., *Lee v. State*, 944 So.2d 56, 59 (Miss.2005) (minor was sexually abused over a period of nine months by

neighbor/family friend); *Moran v. State*, 822 So.2d 1074, 1077 (Miss. App. 2002) (victim delayed reporting for several weeks that her mother's boyfriend had fondled her); *Givens v. State*, 730 So.2d 81 (Miss. App. 1998) (victim's stepfather fondled her several times over a period of four years before she reported it). It is not uncommon for children to fear being separated from their parents, upsetting their households, or to be embarrassed by the incident(s). In this case, the victim testified that she feared her father would physically harm the perpetrator. Nonetheless, after her grandfather persisted in ascertaining why she had stopped visiting their house, she told him what had happened.

K.B.M. testified that once this violation was committed upon her, she abruptly ceased visiting the residence that the defendant shared with her grandparents.¹ This was a dramatic change in her routine which the jury well could have found corroborative of her version of the events in question. Her testimony was consistent with the circumstances; therefore, its credibility was properly resolved by the jury.

Green v. State, 887 So.2d 940 (Miss. App. 2004), citing Allman v. State, 571 So.2d 244, 250 (Miss. 1990).

The trial court properly overruled the motions for j.n.o.v. and new trial.

¹A reasonable inference from a reading of the transcript is that this was a close, loving, extended family, and that K.B.M. and her siblings enjoyed visiting their grandparents, and that the grandparents enjoyed their company.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully submits the argument presented by Massey is without merit.

Accordingly, the judgment entered below should be affirmed.